1967

Bliss S. Elmer v. A. H. Mortensen, Dba A. H.  
Mortensen Plumbing & Heating Company :  
Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action to recover for personal injuries received by the plaintiff in an accident that occurred on April 3, 1964, during the construction of the Allen's Market in Springville, Utah. The defendant's employee drove a truck over some concrete reinforcing wire on which plaintiff was standing. The wire caught on the truck and pulled the plaintiff's feet from under him resulting in injury to his back.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried by the Honorable Allen B. Sorensen with a jury and resulted in a verdict in favor of the plaintiff for the total sum of \$45,000.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant and defendant seeks reversal of the judgment below and a new trial, or in the alternative that the court reduce the judgment by the sum of \$30,000, or in the alternative that the judgment be reduced by the sum of \$19,450.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

In April, 1964, plaintiff was employed by his brother, a general building contractor, and was the foreman in general charge of the construction of the Allen's Super Market in Springville, Utah. Defendant, A. H. Mortensen, was the plumbing subcontractor on said building (T 28). The building in question was 120 feet wide and 146 feet long (T 27, Ex 1). There was an entrance way to it on the east side that was approximately 15 to 20 feet in width (T 34, 108, 210). This entrance way was the only method of ingress and egress for trucks and other vehicles. The foundation wall ran the full width of the entrance and had a dirt ramp on either side of it approximately 12 to 14 feet wide (T 142), which was the main traveled portion for the trucks driving in and out of the building. There was a conflict in the testimony as to whether the foundation wall was completely covered with the dirt ramp or whether approximately three to four inches of the foundation wall extended above the dirt ramp.

On the day of the accident the plaintiff and his crew of men were in the process of getting the concrete floors ready for pouring. The defendant, the

plumbing subcontractor, was in the process of getting the underground plumbing installed. There was a conflict in the testimony as to whether there was a mud puddle on the outside of the building in front of the entrance way. The testimony varied from no mud or no water outside the building at all to a statement that there was a mud puddle beginning approximately three feet east of the entrance way and extending a distance of 8 to 10 feet in width.

On the day of the accident, April 3, 1964, the defendant's son, Clyde Mortensen, who was acting as his foreman, and two other employees, Douglas Poulsen and Lorin Davies, were in the building in the northwest portion of it doing their plumbing work. The plaintiff had four or five men on his crew. Among other things, they were preparing the floor for the concrete pour. At plaintiff's direction, his brother, Marion Elmer, was in the process of rolling out strips of steel reinforcing wire. The wire came in rolls 6 feet wide and approximately 200 feet in length. This was a mesh wire. Each roll weighed approximately 250 pounds (T 366, Ex 42). There were several rolls of this wire located approximately in the center of the building and in a line approximately even with the north portion of the entrance way. The plaintiff's brother would roll this wire out in strips of approximately 32 feet long. He would cut the wire and then roll the wire back to the west end where he would cut it again and

would thus keep rolling the wire laying one layer of wire on top of another. This wire was rather springy and it would tend to curl up on the ends a distance of 12 to 16 inches. Plaintiff's brother put some kind of a timber on the west end of the wire he had rolled out, and he also put timber on the east end to help hold it down. The east end of the wire was located approximately three or four feet west of the east wall of the building (T 33, 34). There were four lengths of wire rolled out, and they were stacked one on top of the other. These were 32 feet long and 6 feet wide. The four pieces of wire were located right in the entrance way. There was some difference in testimony as to how far the north edge of the wire was from the north portion of the entrance way. The testimony would indicate it was far enough from the north entrance way so a man could walk in and out, which would be about three feet (T 121).

Clyde Mortensen, the defendant's foreman and son, told the defendant's employee, Doug Poulsen, to take their pickup truck, which was then inside the building, and go down to their shop and pick up some kind of a plumbing part. Poulsen got in the truck and drove it from where it had been parked somewhere in the northwest portion of the building down on the south side of the lengths of wire that were in the entrance way. As he approached the wire in the entrance way, the plaintiff saw him coming and motioned for him to stop. Poulsen stopped

the truck about 30 feet from the east wall of the building and about 10 feet south of the wire (T 121). At this time, the four pieces of wire were about 2 or 3 inches high, but on the ends the wire was curled up 12 to 14 inches (T 35). There was a 4 x 4 about 16 inches from the east end of the wire holding it down (T 37). The plaintiff picked up a 2 x 4 that was about 6 feet long. He stood on the wire and within a foot of the north edge. (See Ex 1 and the words written in pencil "Position of Mr. Elmer when standing on wire" T 97). The plaintiff was standing on the wire and was holding the east end down with the 2 x 4 because he anticipated that the wire might catch on the truck (T 103, 116).

After plaintiff stepped on the wire on the north edge thereof and after placing his 6 foot 2 x 4 on the southeast portion of the wire, he said to Poulsen, "Okay, come over it slow." Poulsen then proceeded to drive out of the building. There is a conflict in the testimony as to what happened at this point. The plaintiff's witnesses testified that Poulsen revved his engine and gunned the truck out of the building. Poulsen denied this and said that he just eased forward until he got to the point where his truck was going out of the building and that he then just accelerated slightly to get over the foundation wall, which was sticking above the dirt ramp, and to get through the mud puddle that was outside the building (T 239). The wire caught on the left

rear fender of the truck. This pulled plaintiff's feet from under him, causing him to land on his back and resulting in injuries that ultimately required the fusion of the lumbosacral portion of his spine.

The plaintiff claimed total medical expenses at the time of trial of \$2,473.50 (T 65) and loss of earnings as of the time of trial of \$10,550.00 (T 64).

Plaintiff introduced evidence that indicated he was earning \$7,000 per year for the three years prior to the accident (T 65, Ex 7) and that after he finally returned to work, he was only able to earn the sum of \$4,800 per year. The plaintiff's evidence stated most favorably to the plaintiff was to the effect that he suffered a 30 per cent loss of bodily function, that his condition was permanent, and that he would probably not be able to do any carpentry work again in the future. He was 53 years of age at the time of trial. There was a conflict in the medical testimony as to the amount of disability and as to whether the plaintiff could do carpentry work in the future.

Plaintiff admitted that he could have gotten a longer stick with which to hold the wire down and would not have had to stand on it at all (T 106). Plaintiff readily admitted that the wire could have been rolled out in such a position so that it would not have been in the entrance way at all (T 90, 91). He also admitted that he could have told his men to

pull the wire to the west where it would have been completely out of the entrance way before the truck drove out (T 93). The wire had been in the entrance way about 30 to 45 minutes before the accident (T 53).

The case was tried to a jury on March 13, 14 and 15, 1967. The jury returned a verdict in the following form:

General Damages .....	\$12,500
Special Damages .....	2,500
Loss of Earnings .....	30,000

Judgment on the verdict was entered March 16, 1967 (R 73, 74). Defendant filed a Motion for New Trial and a Motion to Alter and Amend (R 75, 77). The Order denying the Motions for New Trial and to Alter and Amend the judgment was entered April 19, 1967 (R 84).

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURY PERTAINING TO CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE OF THE PLAINTIFF WERE PREJUDICIALLY ERRONEOUS IN THAT:

(A) THE INSTRUCTIONS (PARTICULARLY INSTRUCTION NO. 11) DEPRIVED DEFENDANT OF RELYING ON THE FACT THAT PLAINTIFF STOOD ON THE WIRE WHILE THE TRUCK WAS DRIVEN OVER IT AS A GROUND OF NEGLIGENCE; AND,

(B) THE (b) PART OF INSTRUCTION NO. 11 REQUIRES THAT THE JURY FIND IN THE

CONJUNCTIVE BOTH FAILURE TO MAINTAIN A PROPER LOOKOUT AND A FAILURE TO EXERCISE DUE CARE, WHEREAS THE JURY SHOULD HAVE BEEN TOLD THAT EITHER IMPROPER LOOKOUT OR LACK OF DUE CARE WAS SUFFICIENT.

The pre-trial order provides as follows: (R 15)

2. The specific acts of contributory negligence which the defendant claims the plaintiff committed in proximately contributing to or causing the accident are as follows:

- a. In failing to remove the wire from the entrance of the building.
- b. In failing to maintain proper lookout.
- c. In standing upon the wire as the truck was driven over it.
- d. In failing to exercise due care.

The court's Instruction No. 2 in general tells the jury what the parties' respective claims are. Instruction No. 2 (R 39) as it pertains to the claim of defendant reads:

The defendant denies that his employee drove the truck negligently, and claims that the injuries, if any, suffered by plaintiff, were caused by his own negligence in failing to remove the reinforcing wire from the entrance to the building, in failing to maintain a proper lookout, and in failing to exercise due care for his own safety in that he stood on the wire while the truck passed over it.

Instruction No. 3 (R 40) refers to Instruction No. 2, and states,

The preceding instruction is not to be considered by you as a statement upon the part of the court as to what facts are, or are not, proved in this case, but such instruction is a mere recital and statement to you as to what the respective parties in the case claim to be the facts.

Instruction No. 10 (R 43) tells the jury the grounds of negligence claimed by the plaintiff. Instruction No. 11 (R 44 and the one under attack) tells the jury the grounds of contributory negligence relied upon by the defendant. Instruction No. 11 reads in part as follows:

Before contributory negligence would preclude plaintiff's recovery, you must find from a preponderance of the evidence that each of the two following propositions are true:

Proposition No. 1: That the plaintiff was negligent in one or more of the following particulars:

- (a) In that he failed to remove the reinforcing wire from the entrance to the building before allowing the truck driven by Douglas Dwayne Poulsen to proceed.
- (b) In that he failed to maintain a proper lookout and exercise due care for his own safety.

Proposition No. 2: That the said negligence of the plaintiff, if any, was a proximate and contributing cause of the occurrence.

Defendant's requested Instruction No. 10 requested that the court instruct the jury relative to plaintiff's claimed grounds of negligence on the part

of defendant and it further provided that in order for plaintiff to recover, that the jury must find that plaintiff was free from contributory negligence. Defendant's requested Instructions No. 11 and 12, further amplified the claims of negligence and of contributory negligence.

The court, in Instruction No. 2, in effect, tells the jury that defendant is claiming plaintiff was contributorily negligent because he stood on the wire while the truck was driven over it. Instruction No. 11 restricts defendant to two grounds of contributory negligence and in effect tells the jury that standing on the wire while the truck was driven over it, as a matter of law, would not be sufficient evidence from which the jury could find that plaintiff was contributorily negligent. The vice of this instruction is that it removed completely from the consideration of the jury one of the principal grounds of defense relied upon by defendant. All the way through the trial of the case, defendant was constantly attempting to point up to the jury that plaintiff did not act reasonably in standing on the wire when the truck was driven over it. For the court to then tell the jury in effect that standing on the wire while the truck was driven over it could not be considered by the jury as negligence on the part of plaintiff was to deprive defendant of one of the main grounds of defense and was to deprive defendant of a fair trial.

Trial courts will frequently instruct the jury

in general terms on the defense of contributory negligence which then leaves the defendant in position to argue any and all of the grounds of contributory negligence that are supported by the evidence. Such a method of instructing on the issue of contributory negligence is an accepted one and is commonly used. When the court, however, undertakes to spell out in detail the various grounds of contributory negligence relied upon by defendant, it has a duty to instruct fully on all of the grounds urged by the defendant that find reasonable support in the evidence. In other words, each party is entitled to have his case submitted to the jury on any and all theories justified by the admissible evidence. To deprive either party of a full presentation of his claims, is to deprive that party of his day in court.

The Utah Supreme Court has dealt on numerous occasions with the principle that each party is entitled to have his theory of the case fully presented to the jury and that anything less is prejudicial error.

In *Morrison vs. Perry*, 140 P. 2d 772, 104 Ut. 151, the court dealt with a situation where the decedent was driving north and the defendant south. As the two vehicles approached, the decedent drove on the left side of the highway or on defendant's side. The defendant then pulled to the left of center of the highway and applied his brakes. At about the same time the decedent turned back to the right

and the collision occurred on the decedent's side of the roadway.

The court failed to instruct the jury in accordance with the defendant's theory of the deceased's contributory negligence, which was supported by the evidence. On appeal, the court held that this was error and in so doing said:

Defendant's theory, which was supported by evidence was that deceased, by driving on his left-hand side of the highway and his failure to turn to his right side in time to avoid creating an emergency, did create an emergency, which confronted defendant, through no fault of his. The court failed to properly separate the theories of the parties, but instead gave general instructions treating the rights and duties of each driver as being mutual, without regard to defendant's theory as to deceased's negligence in first being on his wrong side of the highway. Defendant is entitled to have his case submitted to the jury on any theory justified by proper evidence.

Each party is entitled to have his theory of the case presented in such a way as to aid the jury and not confuse it.

In applying the rule of this case to the case now before this court, the defendant, Mortensen, was entitled to have the jury consider, among other things, the fact that plaintiff did stand on the wire while the truck was being driven over it as a ground of contributory negligence. The defense was completely taken away from the jury and the jury was in effect told that although defendant claims the fact

of standing on the wire while the truck was driven over it was negligence, this could not be considered by the jury as sufficient ground on which to find negligence on the part of plaintiff.

In *Beckstrom vs. Williams*, 282 P 2d 309, 3 Ut. 2d 210, the Utah court held it was prejudicial error for the trial court to refuse to submit the case to the jury on plaintiff's theory of last clear chance where the evidence would support such a theory. The court, in so holding, reaffirmed the general rule, that either party has a right to have his theory of the case submitted to the jury if evidence would justify reasonable men in following that theory. To the same effect, see *Lund vs. Phillips Petroleum Company*, 351 P 2d 952, 10 Ut. 2d 276. See also *Startin vs. Madsen*, 237 P 2d 834, 120 Ut. 631, where the Supreme Court held that the trial court has a duty to cover the theories of both parties in its instructions; *McDonald vs. Union Pacific Railroad Company*, 167 P 2d 685, 109 Ut. 493. In *Webb vs. Snow*, 132 P 2d 114, 102 Ut. 435, the court was dealing with an action for assault and battery arising out of an altercation with persons operating a "giant racer" at a recreational resort, where evidence with regard to commencement of the altercation was conflicting. The trial court, which had given instructions assuming that facts were as testified to by plaintiff's witnesses, erred in refusing instructions presenting defendant's theory of the case. The court reaffirmed the rule that a party is entitled to have his theory

submitted to the jury, when there is evidence to sustain it.

In *Hooper vs. General Motors Corporation*, 260 P 2d 549, 123 Ut. 515, the Supreme Court again had the opportunity of dealing with an erroneous instruction. In this case, the plaintiff was driving a Chevrolet truck. The truck overturned injuring plaintiff. After the accident, the rim was separated from the spider, the spider being the spokes and inside of the wheel that bolts to the axle. It was claimed by the plaintiff that the wheel was defective at the time of manufacture. There were worn spots on the underside of the rim indicating that there had been looseness for some time prior to the ultimate failure of the wheel. There were also other facts and circumstances tending to show that the wheel was defective at the time it was put on the truck. The court instructed the jury as follows:

You are instructed that the fact that the rim and spider were found in a separated condition after the accident is no evidence of the fact that they were defective, unsound, or unsafe when assembled and sold by defendant, General Motors Corporation, nor is it evidence of the fact that the separating of the rim and spider caused the truck to go out of control and overturn.

The court reversed and granted a new trial. In so doing, the Supreme Court in effect held that the trial court, by giving the above instruction, singled out one of plaintiff's pieces of evidence that when

considered with other evidence, tended to show defective manufacture, and the instruction told the jury that this piece of evidence; namely, the fact of spider-rim separation, was no evidence at all of either defective manufacture or that the failure of the wheel caused the accident. In holding the instruction erroneous, the Supreme Court said:

It is not enough to say, that though the instruction be incorrect, the fact of rim-spider separation was so implicit in all of the evidence, that no prejudice resulted to the plaintiff. The instruction as given, withdrew from the jury a fact which was some evidence of two requisite elements of the plaintiff's cause. It would be pure conjecture to say that the jury ignored the instruction.

Applying the ruling of the Hooper case to the case now before this court, the effect of the trial court's instruction was to take completely from the jury defendant's claim that plaintiff was negligent in standing on the wire while the truck was driven over it. Had the jury been permitted to consider that claim as negligence on the part of plaintiff, the result of this lawsuit would very probably have been different.

For numerous other cases announcing the rule that the trial court has the duty to fully instruct the jury upon every reasonable theory of the parties which finds support in the pleadings and evidence, see *Cook vs. Saltzer*, 257 P 2d 228, 74 Ida. 97; *Wurm vs. Pulice*, 353 P 2d 1071, 82 Ida. 359; *Lem-*

*man vs. McManus*, 233 P 2d 410, 71 Ida. 467. In *Phillips vs. G. L. Truman Excavation Company*, 362 P 2d 33, 55 Cal. 2d 801, the trial court submitted the case to the jury on the question of defendant's negligence only, but refused to submit it on the question of the contributory negligence of the plaintiff. On appeal, the Supreme Court of California reversed, holding that there was some evidence of contributory negligence and hence the defendant was entitled to have his theory of the case submitted to the jury. In so holding, the court said:

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