1967

Bliss S. Elmer v. A. H. Mortensen, Dba A. H.
Mortensen Plumbing & Heating Company :
Respondent's Brief On Appeal

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

Rule 47(r) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides: "If the verdict rendered is informal or insufficient, it may be corrected by the jury under the advice of the court, or the jury may be sent out again." In interpreting this rule, the Utah Supreme Court in the case of *Jorgenson v. Gonzales*, 14 Utah 2d 330, 383 P.2d 934, stated as follows:

"The general and well established rule is that so long as the jury is functioning as such in the course of the trial and until it is discharged, it is subject to directions and instructions from the court to the end that the issues be fully tried, deliberated upon and a correct verdict rendered. And where it is apparent that there is some patent error in connection with the verdict, the court may, of course, call the matter to their attention

and direct them to redeliberate. In that regard it has been held, sensibly and properly, that where an amount is erroneously included, the court may direct the jury to retire and correct it."

It would seem that if there was any question on the part of the defendant as to the form, or the proper amount of the jury verdict, or any question of duplication, counsel could and should have requested any such matter to be clarified under proper directions and instructions from the court before the jury was discharged. Having made no such request, and having sat back and permitted the court to discharge the jury after three days of trial, defendant is not now in a position to raise any objection.

In the case of *Hill v. Cloward*, 14 Utah 2d 55, 377 P.2d 186, a party litigant claimed prejudicial error because insurance was mentioned during the trial. No objection had been made by either party in the trial court. In a unanimous decision written by Justice Crockett, the court stated as follows:

"But there is an insuperable difficulty with the plaintiff's position. His counsel let the incident pass without objection and without a request to rectify any harm he thought had been done. Fair play and good conscience require that he do so at the earliest opportunity. It would be manifestly unjust for a party to sit silently by, believing that prejudicial error had been committed, proceed with the trial to its completion, and allow the jury to deliberate and reach a verdict, to see if he wins, then if he loses, come forward with a claim that such an error rendered the verdict a nullity. If this could be done, proceedings after such an oc-

currence would be in vain and thus an imposition upon the court, the jury and all concerned. The court will not countenance any such mockery of its proceedings. If something occurs which the party thinks is wrong and so prejudicial to him that he thereafter cannot have a fair trial, he must make his objection promptly and seek redress by moving for a mistrial, or by having cautionary instructions given, if that is deemed adequate, or be held to waive whatever rights may have existed to do so."

The above principle has been held to apply to claimed errors at any stage of the proceedings, and particularly to claimed defects in a jury verdict as is defendant's claim here. This basic principle is set forth at 89 C.J.S. Trial, Section 525, as follows:

"An error or defect in the form of a verdict is waived by the failure to make timely objections. Objection to irregularity or informality in a verdict must be taken at its rendition or time of return, at the term at which the verdict is rendered, and before the jury are discharged, otherwise the objection will be deemed to have been waived."

In the case of *Baker v. Cook*, 6 Utah 2d 161, 308 P.2d 264, a defendant neither objected nor excepted to the forms of questions submitted in a special verdict. On appeal it was held that he could not later raise this as an issue and claim that the questions in the verdict were drawn so as to confuse the jury.

Based on the above principles of law, the record in this case clearly shows that defendant has waived any objection to the form of verdict.

B. There was no prejudicial error in the form of verdict, and it is immaterial whether loss of earnings is an item of general or special damages.

Defendant in his brief has cited many cases in an attempt to define whether damages for loss of earnings are general or special damages. These cases deal primarily with the question of pleading, and are not material here. In the cases cited by counsel, the distinction becomes important under rules of procedure that require items of special damages or permanence of injuries to be specifically pleaded. As properly stated at page 30 of appellant's brief, the purpose of requiring such pleading is to give notice to the defendant of the nature and extent of the claim so that he might properly prepare his defense and not be taken by surprise.

In the instant case, there is no claim of improper pleading, nor of any surprise on the part of defendant. Plaintiff's amended complaint alleges that he has suffered lost wages and will continue to suffer loss of income; the deposition of plaintiff which was taken by defendant prior to trial and published at the time of trial leaves no doubt as to the nature of plaintiff's claims; and the pre-trial order specifically states that "it is understood that plaintiff will present testimony concerning future loss of wages."

In analyzing the Utah cases dealing with the definition of general and special damages, it is apparent, as appellant has pointed out, that there has been some confusion as to whether loss of earnings is general or special damage. Because of this uncertainty it has been

the practice of many trial courts throughout the state to have the jury consider loss of earnings as an item separate and apart from the other elements of damage. This is what was done in the instant case. Certainly it cannot be contended that loss of earnings, both past and future, if shown with reasonable certainty, is not a proper element of damages in an action for personal injuries.

Regardless of whether loss of earnings are general or special damage, it would not be improper for the trial court to request the jury to make a separate finding on this question as was done here. This would merely have the effect of being a special verdict which is proper under Rule 49, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Rule 49(a) specifically provides that the trial court "may use such method of submitting the issues and requiring the written findings thereon as it deems most appropriate." The language of this rule clearly gives wide discretion to the trial court in determining the form of verdict. In the case of *Hanks v. Christensen*, 11 Utah 2d 8, 354 P.2d 564, this court has stated that "it is elementary that there is no impropriety in submitting special interrogatories if the court so desires."

Even if it were to be assumed that it is error for the trial court to permit a separate finding by the jury for loss of earnings, it could not possibly be prejudicial. The following sections from 53 Am. Jur., Trial, set forth the general law in this regard:

Section 1035. "The responsibility of returning a true verdict rests with the jury, and it is a matter of accommodation, and not a legal require-

ment, that the trial judge supply the jury with the proper forms in any given case. Any words which convey the meaning and intention of the jury are usually deemed to be sufficient. So long as the verdict manifests the intention and findings of the jury upon the issues submitted to them, it will not be overthrown because of defects of form merely. Certainly irregularities in the form of a verdict which do not affect the merits of the controversy constitute no ground for the reversal of the judgment based upon the verdict."

Section 1036. "Because inartificial expressions and words are sometimes employed in framing a verdict, the first object in the construction of a verdict is to learn the intent of the jury, and when this can be ascertained, such effect should be given to the verdict, consistent with legal principles and construing it as a whole, as will most nearly conform to the intent. The jury's intent is to be arrived at by regarding the verdict liberally, with all reasonable intendments in its support and with the sole view of ascertaining the meaning of the jury, and not under the technical rules of construction which are applicable to pleadings. In the interpretation of an ambiguous verdict, the court may make use of anything in the proceedings that serves to show with certainty what the jury intended, and for this purpose, reference may be had, for example, to the pleadings, the evidence, the admissions of the parties, the instructions, or the forms of verdict submitted."

Section 1050. "Although defective in form, if a verdict substantially finds the question in issue in such a way as will enable the court intelligently to pronounce judgment thereon for one or the other party, according to the manifest intention of the jury it is sufficiently certain. As is the case generally, every reasonable construction should

be adopted for the purpose of working the verdict into form so as to make it serve. Further, if, by reference to the record, any uncertainty in the verdict can be explained, it is sufficient to sustain the appropriate judgment.”

If the above principles are applied to the instant case, the jury verdict must stand. It is only in the case of uncertainty, or in the case of the jury considering an improper item of damages, that prejudice could possibly result. As to the former, the itemizing of loss of earnings eliminates any uncertainty in that it shows how the jury arrived at the total verdict; as to the latter it has been shown that loss of earnings, both past and future, are proper items of damages.

Rule 61 Utah Rules of Civil Procedure deals with the question of harmless error and provides as follows:

“No error or defect in any ruling or order or in anything done or omitted by the court or by any of the parties, is grounds for granting a new trial or otherwise disturbing a judgment or order, unless refusal to take such action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial justice. The court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties.”

The harmless error rule has been applied to many jury verdicts by the Utah Supreme Court. In the case of *Rhemke v. Clinton*, 2 Utah 230, a verdict of \$40,219.26 was returned by a jury. The jury verdict was questioned as it contained a large award for interest and the verdict was also itemized. The court admitted that the

question of interest was a question of law and not fact, but considered the including of interest in the jury verdict as harmless error and stated "This question as to the verdict is one not of substance but of mere form. Under our system of pleading when substantial justice is done, the mere form should not defeat it."

The same result was reached in the case of *Atchison v. Lee*, 8 Kansas 24, 54 Pac. 4. The jury verdict appeared to contain a double award for pain and suffering. Damages were awarded for pain and suffering, and also awarded for mental suffering and distress and were itemized. Defense counsel in the case argued that there was a duplication of awards. The court held as follows:

"The two items will be treated as equivalent to a single allowance for mental and physical pain and suffering where the same is supported by the evidence as it was evident that the jury intended to allow an award for pain and suffering, both physical and mental."

Though the damages were awarded separately, there was no prejudicial error.

In the case of *Cloves v. Home Life Insurance Company of New York*, 83 Utah 401, 28 P.2d 607, the jury awarded a verdict by assessing the plaintiff's damage in the sum of \$20.00 per month commencing with September 15, 1930, and the jury did not state when the compensation should end. The allegation was made that the verdict was ambiguous and therefore prejudicial and defective. The court held that it was harmless error and stated that the court could look at the entire record and

pleadings and from these a judgment on the verdict should be entered for a fixed amount.

The argument of defendant in this case that there is a duplication in the award is absurd. The jury found \$30,000.00 loss of earnings and \$12,500.00 in other general damages. If the general damage figure was meant to include the loss of earnings, the award for general damages could not have been \$12,500.00, but would have had to exceed \$30,000.00. The instructions given to the jury properly outlined all of the elements of damage for which they could permit recovery. It must be assumed that the jury consisted of intelligent individuals and that they followed the instructions of the court. In the case of *Weber Basin Water Conservancy District v. Nelson*, 11 Utah 2d 253, 358 P.2d 81, this court stated that presumptions and intendments cannot be indulged in to establish a contradiction or inconsistency in the findings or answers of a jury to special interrogatories, the presumption always being to the contrary. The same presumption must be given to the verdict reached by the jury in the present case. In the case of *Pace v. Parrish*, 122 Utah 141, 247 P.2d 273, it was again stated that whenever there is uncertainty or doubt in connection with the correlation of interrogatories with each other and their answers, they should be so interpreted as to harmonize with the findings of the jury if that can be done.

The award of \$30,000.00 for loss of earnings likewise was not unreasonable in light of the evidence. The court in its damage instruction instructed the jury on

past and future loss of earnings in the same paragraph, so naturally the jury considered these items together. The evidence established \$10,475.00 in past loss of earnings, and the balance of \$19,525.00 would constitute future loss of earnings. This amount is nominal in light of plaintiff's proven loss of earning capacity, his fixed bodily disability, his inability to return to his former type of employment, and his life expectancy. There is no reason or justification whatsoever to interfere with the verdict of the jury.

POINT III

THERE WAS NO ERROR IN FAILING TO STATE A FORMULA TO REDUCE FUTURE DAMAGES TO PRESENT WORTH.

Defendant claims error because the court failed to give JIFU instructions No. 90.34 and 90.35 relating to a reduction of future damages because of a present payment in cash. Again the difficulty with defendant's position is that he did not request these instructions to be given.

Defendant has cited two cases in support of his contention, neither of which is in point. In the case of *Hays v. New York Central Railroad Company*, 328 Ill. Appeals 631, 67 N.E.2d 215, the court granted a new trial on entirely different grounds. In doing so, the court commented on several of the jury instructions, among which was an instruction relating to the present value of future loss, stating that the court should have given a

formula whereby the jury could make the computation. The case was not reversed on this ground and the court did not say that this error was prejudicial. The question of waiver because of no request for an appropriate instruction was not even in issue.

The case of *Wentz v. T. E. Connally, Inc.*, 45 Wash. 2d 127, 273 P.2d 485, was not even a jury trial. In that case the court made detailed findings and the award was subsequently adjusted because the trial court had not taken into consideration the present value of a future loss. Again the question of waiver was not in issue.

In the instant case, it would seem that the same authorities as cited under Points I and II A. of this brief would now bar defendant from raising this objection on appeal.

CONCLUSION

Defendant was given a fair trial in this case and has shown no valid reason why the court should award a new trial or otherwise interfere with the verdict of the jury. The policy of the law is to bring litigation to an end and not to grant new trials merely because one of the parties is unsatisfied with the result.

As shown under Point I of this brief, the defendant was not deprived of his theory of the case. The instructions, when considered as a whole, show that all of the issues were fairly and intelligibly presented to the jury. Further, the defendant did not request the trial court to

instruct the jury on the specific ground of negligence of which he now claims to be deprived. Also, and in any event, the evidence would not support a finding of contributory negligence on the ground alleged.

As shown under Point II of this brief, defendant is barred from claiming any error in the form of verdict where he failed to make timely objections thereto. There was no error in the form of verdict, and even if there were error, it would be harmless and could not possibly be prejudicial.

Defendant has also waived his right to complain about additional instructions which he claims should have been given, but which he did not request.

Based upon all of the foregoing, plaintiff respectfully requests that the verdict of the jury and the judgment entered thereon be affirmed.